FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/27/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/24/2024 2:26 PM

No	Case #: 1037392
Court of Appeals No. 85728-2-I	
SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON	
C.S.A., a minor, by and through his guardians B.W.A. and P.E.S.,	
Respondents,	
V.	
BELLEVUE SCHOOL DISTRICT,	
Petitioner.	
PETITION FOR REVIEW	

## Masters Law Group, p.l.l.c.

Kenneth W. Masters, WSB 22278
Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSB 33099
Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362
Office: 241 Madison Avenue North
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-5033
ken@appeal-law.com
shelby@appeal-law.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

## **

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. Did the trial court correctly rule that BSD properly refused to provide copies of unredacted school surveillance videos taken on November 19, 2021, March 28, 2022, and April 25, 2022, all of which were contained in other students' education records and easily could be used to identify them, so FERPA was an "other statute" forbidding their disclosure?
- 2. Does *C.S.A.* violate the Supremacy Clause, Art. VI, c.2 of the United States Constitution, when it purports to "narrowly interpret" FERPA, rather than narrowly interpreting the "other statutes" exemption of RCW 42.56.070(1)?
- 3. Did the trial court correctly rule that BSD timely responded to C.S.A.'s PRA request for the exempt surveillance videos, where it produced serial installments over the course of a year, disclosing the videos only after it obtained the technical ability to redact them?

### **FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

The appellate decision generally states the relevant facts. App. A. Stipulated facts were also entered. CP 331-36. But the decision overlooks or misapprehends crucial facts summarized here when it states (in a footnote) that the March and April videos do not depict other students or are not their education records. App. A at 18 n.21.

## A. March 28, 2022 surveillance videos.

On March 29 and 30, 2022, C.S.A. requested school surveillance videos for a March 28, 2022 incident between C.S.A. and another student ("O.P."). CP 366-70. Based on this incident, C.S.A. filed a Harassment, Intimidation and/or Bullying (HIB) complaint that BSD investigated. *Id.;* CP 563-64. The April 15 list of seventeen categories of records included documents related to the "March 28, 2022 HIB complaint." CP 388-90. BSD promptly began producing responsive records in installments due to record volume. CP 392-415. When BSD became able to redact videos, it

produced redacted video footage. CP 145. BSD also produced non-redacted video footage that did not include other students' identifying characteristics. CP 349, 415.

The March 28 videos clearly depicted identifiable images of C.S.A. and of O.P. CP 415, 453. Indeed, C.S.A. submitted an HIB complaint about this incident, and BSD used this video footage in its investigation of the complaint. CP 366-70, 376, 563-64, 569. Thus, the March 28 videos are the education records of both C.S.A. and O.P., and C.S.A. was allowed to review and inspect the videos.

## B. April 25, 2022 surveillance videos.

On May 19, 2022, C.S.A. requested "any and all documents related to the April 25, 2022, HIB incident" near the school office, including video footage. CP 418. After exchanging correspondence clarifying the request (CP 417, 421-22, 424, 426-27, 429) on June 30, C.S.A. clarified that the "incident" referred to his report of harassment on April 25, 2022. CP 429. On July 29, 2022, BSD disclosed

to C.S.A. the existence of three videos in the investigation file related to the April 25 HIB incident. CP 432.

The April 25 videos contained identifiable images of C.S.A. and of the students whom C.S.A. alleged committed HIB conduct against him. CP 432. Again, C.S.A. filed an HIB complaint about this incident and BSD used the video footage in its investigation. *Id*; see also CP 564, 575. So again, the April 25 videos are education records of both C.S.A. and the other students, and C.S.A. was allowed to review and inspect the videos. CP 432, 436.

C. Directly contrary to FERPA, the appellate decision orders disclosure of exempt education records and personally identifiable information.

Despite the plain fact that the requested videos are education records containing personally identifiable information, the decision held that FERPA is not an "other statute" exempting unredacted disclosure. App. A at 14-20. This conflicts with FERPA and Washington precedent.

Specifically – at least as to the November 19 videos – the decision correctly notes that they contain images of another student (A.S.) used as evidence of HIB conduct at her disciplinary hearing, so they are directly related to A.S. and are her education records. App. at 18. As discussed *infra*, she is plainly entitled to FERPA's privacy protections.

The decision also correctly notes that because the videos could not be redacted without destroying their meaning, C.S.A. retained the right to review and inspect them. Id. Complying with FERPA, the District timely permitted C.S.A. to do so. Id. But based on no authority, the appellate decision incorrectly held: "Because FERPA did not exempt production of the videos to C.S.A., the District fails to show that it amounts to an 'other statute' justifying its decision to withhold them under the PRA." Id. at 20. As explained infra, this incorrect holding destroys FERPA's privacy protections, which forbid disclosure of another student's unredacted education records.

#### REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The appellate decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals regarding (1) FERPA as an "other statute" (RCW 42.56.070(1)) that exempts students' education records and personally identifiable information from production under the PRA; and (2) the impropriety of focusing on the identity of the requester, rather than on the nature of the documents whose disclosure is requested. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2)

The appellate decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals regarding (1) FERPA as an "other statute" under the PRA (RCW 42.56.070(1)) that exempts students' education records and personally identifiable information; and (2) the impropriety of focusing on the identity of the requester, rather than the nature of the documents whose disclosure is requested. See, e.g., John Doe A v. Wash. State Patrol, 185 Wn.2d 363, 375, 374 P.3d 63 (2016) ("courts consistently find a statute to be an 'other statute' when the plain language of the statute makes it clear that a record, or portions thereof, is exempt from production" (emphasis added));

Broadcasting-Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515, 526, 326 P.3d 688 (2014) ("other statute" temporarily exempted video from production); *Ameriquest* Mortg. Co. v. Office of Att'y Gen., 170 Wn.2d 418, 438-39, 241 P.3d 1245 (2010) (federal law may be an "other statute" exempting disclosure); Baxter v. W. Wash. Univ., 20 Wn. App. 2d 646, 501 P.3d 581 (2021) (same); West v. Evergreen State Coll. Bd. of Trs., 3 Wn. App. 2d 112, 114-15, 414 P.3d 614 (2018) (FERPA is an "other statute" that exempts other students' education records and personally identifiable information); Livingston **Cedeno**, 164 Wn.2d 46, 53, 186 P.3d 1055 (2008) (agency "must respond to all public disclosure requests without regard to the status or motivation of the requester"); see also RCW 42.56.080(2) ("Agencies shall not distinguish among persons requesting records").

Review is warranted.

1. FERPA is an "other statute" that creates no "right" to "production," but rather exempts education records and personally identifiable information from disclosure.

While this Court has not yet addressed FERPA as an "other statute," the Court of Appeals followed this Court's "other statute" analyses in cases like John Doe A and Ameriquest to conclude that FERPA is an "other statute" that exempts students' education records and personally identifiable information from disclosure under the PRA in **West**, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 118-24. **West** – in contrast to **C.S.A.** – further held that the school properly redacted the requested disciplinary student records containing personally identifiable information. 3 Wn. App. at 124-25 ("These records also 'personally identifiable are information' because they include or are likely to include . . . 'information that, alone or in combination . . . would allow a reasonable person in the school community . . . to identify the student with reasonable certainty" (quoting 34 C.F.R.

§ 99.3)). "Therefore, the records fall within document categories that FERPA exempts from disclosure." *Id.* at 125 (citing 20 U.S.C. § 1232g(b)(1)-(2)).1

But here, although the appellate court correctly determined that at least some of the videos are exempt education records containing personally identifiable information – while the facts (*supra*) show that they all are – it nonetheless held that FERPA itself was somehow stripped of its status as an "other statute" because the videos could not be redacted in a way that did not render them meaningless. App. A at 18-20 & nn. 21 & 22:

Because FERPA did not exempt production[2] of the videos to C.S.A., the District fails to show that it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> **West** also specifically held that documents exempt under FERPA "are not stripped of their protected status solely because they passed through Campus Police Services' possession." *Id.* (discussing 34 C.F.R. 99.8(c)(2)). Thus,

the school properly redacted the Campus Police Services records under FERPA. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The use of "production" here is incorrect: While FERPA allows C.S.A. and/or his parents to "review and inspect" education records disclosing personally identifiable information of other students, it forbids their "production."

amounts to an "other statute" justifying its decision to withhold them under the PRA.

Although the decision's n.22 acknowledges that FERPA permits parents *only* to "inspect or review" such records, it nonetheless holds that this language also permits "providing a copy of a video without the consent of affected students." *Id.* at 20 n.22. This holding guts FERPA's privacy protections for many students' education records.

While that last assertion may *seem* too strong, under the plain language of FERPA there is *no situation* in which parents do not have a right to inspect and review their own children's education records (20 U.S.C § 1232g(a)(1)(A)):

No funds shall be made available under any applicable program to any educational agency or institution which has a policy of denying, or which effectively prevents, the parents of students who are or have been in attendance at a school of such agency or at such institution, as the case may be, the right to inspect and review the education records of their children.

While this is a very important policy, the very same provision goes on to contradict C.S.A.'s holding that

"inspect and review" means "production" – in the sense that an agency may release one student's personally identifiable information to another student's parents (*id.*):

If any material or document in the education record of a student includes information on more than one student, the parents of one of such students shall have the right to inspect and review only such part of such material or document as relates to such student or to be informed of the specific information contained in such part of such material. [Emphases added.]

Moreover, FERPA makes very clear that releasing students' education records or personally identifiable information without written consent from their parents is forbidden (20 U.S.C. § 1232g(b)):

(1) No funds shall be made available under any applicable program to any educational agency or institution which has a policy or practice of permitting the release of education records (or personally identifiable information contained therein other than directory information, as defined in paragraph (5) of subsection (a)) of students without the written consent of their parents to any individual, agency, or organization, . . .

. . .

- (2) No funds shall be made available under any applicable program to any educational agency or institution which has a policy or practice of releasing, or providing access to, any personally identifiable information in education records other than directory information, or as is permitted under paragraph (1) of this subsection unless—
- (A) there is written consent from the student's parents specifying records to be released, the reasons for such release, and to whom, and with a copy of the records to be released to the student's parents and the student if desired by the parent[s].

Thus, *C.S.A.*'s holding that the parental privilege to inspect and review is tantamount to a right to possess FERPA-exempt education records and personally identifiable information undermines FERPA for many students and parents. It conflicts with *West* and many other decisions. This Court should accept review to correct this judicial overreach into a federally protected domain.

Of course, many authorities require our courts to narrowly interpret *the PRA's exemptions*. *See, e.g.*, *Fisher*, 180 Wn.2d at 521 (PRA exemptions are "narrowly construed to promote . . . public policy and to assure that

the public interest will be fully protected" (quoting RCW 42.56.030)). But narrowly construing a PRA exemption (like the "other statutes" exemption) is not – or should not be – the same thing as narrowly construing the other statute. And this is particularly true where, as here, the other statute is a federal statute that is paramount to the PRA under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. See infra, Argument § B. As explained infra, Congress plainly did not intend for state courts to "narrowly interpret" FERPA – or indeed, to interpret it at all. Id.

As quoted *supra*, FERPA – the Family Education Records and *Privacy Act* – plainly says that educational institutions having a policy or practice of disclosing – meaning producing copies of<sup>3</sup> – education records or

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See 34 CFR § 99.3 ("*Disclosure* means . . . the release, transfer, or other communication of personally identifiable information contained in education records by any means . . . to any party except the party identified as the party that provided or created the record").

personally identifiable information may lose their federal funding. 20 U.S.C. § 1232g. Congress's intent to protect students' privacy is clear. *C.S.A.* defies Congress.

Indeed, FERPA creates *no* privately enforceable rights. Gonzaga Univ. v. Doe, 536 U.S. 273, 287, 122 S. Ct. 2268, 153 L. Ed. 2d 309 (2002) ("there is no question that FERPA's nondisclosure provisions fail to confer enforceable rights"). If no one has any privatelyenforceable rights under FERPA, state courts should not be using state statutes (like the PRA) to "narrowly interpret" FERPA's nondisclosure provisions to evade Congress's plain intent to forbid unauthorized releases of education records and personally identifiable information. Implying a "right" to "production" under the PRA in the face of FERPA's plain language forbidding such disclosures violates the Supremacy Clause and creates a substantial obstacle to achieving FERPA's full purposes and privacy objectives. See infra, Argument § B.

# 2. The appellate decision improperly focuses on the identity of the requester, rather than on the nature of the requested records.

This Court has upheld the PRA's requirement that agencies "must respond to all public disclosure requests without regard to the status or motivation of the requester." *Livingston*, 164 Wn.2d at 53; *see also* RCW 42.56.080(2) ("Agencies shall not distinguish among persons requesting records"). Yet despite correctly determining that the videos are education records, which are plainly exempt under FERPA, the appellate decision refocused its attention on the identity of the requester – the student and his parents – rather than on the nature of the records. This conflicts with *Livingston*.

Simply put, the appellate court apparently held that because C.S.A. and/or his parents are entitled to "inspect or review" his education records – particularly when, as here, they cannot be redacted without destroying their

meaning<sup>4</sup> – they are *also* entitled to receive unredacted production of the videos. *See* App. A at 18-20 & n.22. This holding orders disclosure of *other students*' education records and personally identifiable information. FERPA is directly to the contrary. *C.S.A*. destroys FERPA's *privacy* mandate for many students and their parents.

# B. The appellate decision raises a significant question of law under the United States Constitution's Supremacy Clause. RAP 13.4(b)(3)

The appellate decision raises a significant question of law under the United States Constitution's Supremacy Clause.<sup>5</sup> As relevant here, if "federal law imposes restrictions . . . on private actors and a state law confers rights . . . that conflict with the federal law, the federal law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See 34 CFR §§ 99.10(a), 99.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This issue was not raised in the trial or appellate courts. Rather, *the appellate decision* first raised this issue, as the trial court had ruled that FERPA exempts these records from PRA production. But Petitioner's motion for reconsideration did note that *C.S.A.* improperly entrenches upon the Secretary of Education's authority.

takes precedence and the state law is preempted." Salt Lake Cty. v. Volkswagen Grp. of Am., Inc. (In re Volkswagen "Clean Diesel" Mktg., Sales Practices, & Prods. Liab. Litig.), 959 F.3d 1201, 1211 (2020) ("Salt Lake") (cleaned up) (citing Kansas v. Garcia, 539 U.S. 191, 202, 140 S. Ct. 791, 206 L. Ed. 2d 146 (2020) (quoting Murphy v. Nat'l Collegiate Athletic Ass'n, 584 U.S. 453, 478, 138 S. Ct. 1461, 200 L. Ed. 2d 854 (2018))), cert. denied, 2021 U.S. LEXIS 5671 (2021). The "purpose of Congress is the ultimate touchstone in every pre-emption case." Salt Lake, 959 F.3d at 1211 (cleaned up) (quoting Wyeth v. Levine, 555 U.S. 555, 565, 129 S. Ct. 1187, 173 L. Ed. 2d 51 (2009) (quoting *Medtronic, Inc. v. Lohr*, 518 U.S. 470, 485, 116 S. Ct. 2240, 135 L. Ed. 2d 700 (1996))).

Here, that purpose must be "grounded 'in the text and structure of'" FERPA. *Id.* (quoting *Garcia*, 140 S. Ct. at 804 (quoting *CSX Transp., Inc. v. Easterwood*, 507 U.S. 658, 664, 113 S. Ct. 1732, 123 L. Ed. 2d 387 (1993))). The

States' historic police powers are not preempted absent a "clear and manifest purpose of Congress." *Id.* at 1212 (cleaned up) (quoting *Wyeth*, 555 U.S. at 565 (quoting *Medtronic*, 518 U.S. at 485)). Implied preemption is a "high threshold." *Id.* (cleaned up) (quoting *Chamber of Comm. of U.S. v. Whiting*, 563 U.S. 582, 607, 131 S. Ct. 1968, 179 L. Ed. 2d 1031 (2011)). But preemption may be found when state law frustrates federal regulatory efforts. *Van Patten v. Jensen*, 112 Wn.2d 552, 560, 773 P.2d 62 (1989) (citing *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Common Carriers, Inc.*, 111 Wn.2d 586, 588, 762 P.2d 348 (1988) ("*Common*")).

As the United States Supreme Court noted in **Gonzaga**, Congress allocated the responsibility to "deal with violations" of FERPA to the Secretary of Education:

Congress expressly authorized the Secretary of Education to "deal with violations" of the Act, § 1232g(f) (emphasis added), and required the Secretary to "establish or designate [a] review board" for investigating and adjudicating such violations, §

1232g(g). Pursuant to these provisions. Secretary created the Family Policy Compliance Office (FPCO) "to act as the Review Board required under the Act and to enforce the Act with respect to all applicable programs." 34 CFR 99.60(a) and (b) (2001). The FPCO permits students and parents who suspect a violation of the Act to file individual written complaints. § 99.63. If a complaint is timely and contains required information, the FPCO will initiate investigation, 99.64(a)-(b), notify §§ educational institution of the charge, § 99.65(a), and request a written response, § 99.65. If a violation is found, the FPCO distributes a notice of factual findings and a "statement of the specific steps that the agency or institution must take to comply" with FERPA. §§ 99.66(b) and (c)(1).

**Gonzaga**, 536 U.S. at 289. Indeed, Congress *centralized* the process of enforcing FERPA (*id.* at 290):

Congress finally provided that "except for the conduct of hearings, none of the functions of the Secretary under this section shall be carried out in any of the regional offices" of the Department of Education. 20 U.S.C. § 1232g(g). This centralized review provision was added just four months after FERPA's enactment due to "concern that regionalizing the enforcement of [FERPA] may lead to multiple interpretations of it, and possibly work a hardship on parents, students, and institutions." 120 Cong. Rec. 39863 (1974) (joint statement). [Emphasis added.]

These provisions made it clear to SCOTUS that permitting private actions in state courts is counter to this intent (*id*.):

It is implausible to presume that the same Congress nonetheless intended private suits to be brought before thousands of federal- and state-court judges, which could only result in the sort of "multiple interpretations" the Act explicitly sought to avoid. [Emphasis added.]

Thus, while SCOTUS declined to reach whether FERPA was "sufficiently comprehensive" to preclude private enforcement, it did so only because FERPA itself "creates no private right to enforce." *Id.* at 290 n.8.

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