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

a specific school surveillance video, a school must show that it 

is an educational record and that FERPA operates to prevent 

disclosure of the specific video requested. RCW 42.56.070(1); 

CP 175-77, 181-85. As the Court of Appeals recognizes, simply 

claiming that there is personal identifiable information in a 

school surveillance video is not a magical talisman that shields 

a school district from its obligations under the PRA. Appendix 

at 15-18; Oral Argument, supra, 9:40-41. This is consistent with 

 
6 The Court of Appeals recognizes FERPA has two purposes: 

providing students with the right to access their student records 

and restricting disclosure of students’ education records and 

personally identifiable information without consent. Appendix 

at 15-16; Oral Argument at 9:41-43.  Yet, it correctly concludes 

that when those two rights are in conflict, under federal 

guidelines, FERPA’s right to access supersedes its protections 

against disclosure. Id.; see also, CP 175-76, 183, 185.  
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Baxter and West that likewise recognize FERPA’s status as an 

“other statute” exempting disclosure of educational records is 

conditional. Baxter, 20 Wn.App.2d at 663-67; West, 3 Wn. 

App. 2d at 124-25.  Hence, there is no decisional conflict in this 

regard. 

Under FERPA, the disclosure of school surveillance 

videos -- even those that are educational records -- is 

conditional. The Court of Appeals properly noted that the 

relevant question under RCW 42.56.070(1) is whether the 

specific school surveillance videos requested here were subject 

to disclosure under FERPA. In answering this threshold 

question, schools must follow the protocol set forth in the Letter 

to Wachter and the FAQ.7 This protocol --as set forth by the 

DOE and properly applied to facts of this case by the Court of 

Appeals -- is visually represented in the flow chart contained in 

Figure 1. 

 
7 The District cited the Letter to Wachter and the FAQ below, 

but it failed to follow the protocol set forth in those.  
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FIGURE 1. Determining whether 

FERPA prohibits disclosure of a 

school surveillance video 

 
This protocol is straightforward and merely requires a 

school to ask a few simple questions for determining when a 



-19- 
 

school surveillance video is protected under FERPA. It thus 

offers a quick and easy method for a school to determine 

whether such a video (or portions thereof) is disclosable under 

FERPA and thus subject to production under the PRA.  

As Figure 1 depicts, this protocol applies any time a party 

requests production of a school surveillance video under the 

PRA. That is the only way to determine whether FERPA 

operates as an “other statute.” There is no discrimination among 

PRA requesters.8 Every time a school surveillance video is 

requested, regardless of who is making the request, the District 

must ask the same questions to determine whether FERPA 

qualifies as an “other statute” that prohibits disclosure of the 

specific school surveillance video that has been requested. 

The Court of Appeals properly applied the protocol set 

forth in Figure 1. It recognized that the requested school 

surveillance videos were an education record. It acknowledged 

 
8 Thus, contrary to the District’s claim (PFR at 16-17), there is 

no conflict with this Court’s decision in Livingston v. Cedeno 

164 v. Cedeno, 164 Wn.2d 46, 186 P.3d 1055 (2008). 
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that this record belonged to C.S.A. and at least one other 

student. It also noted the District had admitted that the videos 

could not be redacted at the time of C.S.A.’s requests. From 

this, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that FERPA did 

not prohibit disclosure, it did not operate as an “other statute” 

under RCW 42.56.070(1), and therefore the District was 

obligated to produce copies. Appendix at 17-20; Oral Argument 

at 9:36-43. 

Despite the clear guidance set forth in the letter to 

Wachter and the FAQ, the District still insists it did not violate 

the PRA because FERPA prohibits disclosure of the school 

surveillance videos.9 It essentially argues that since the 

disciplined students are entitled to FERPA’s privacy protections 

 
9 Even if there is/was some legitimate confusion on the 

District’s part as to how the PRA and FERPA applied in the 

context of C.S.A.’s PRA request, that was no excuse for its 

prolonged illegal withholding of these videos. The District 

could have, and should have, promptly sought a judicial 

determination to clarify the matter, thereby mitigating fines, 

fees, and penalties imposed under the PRA. RCW 42.56.540. 
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then FERPA categorically barred the District from providing 

C.S.A. copies of the videos. PFR at 5, 10-13. However, the 

District ignores that under FERPA -- as it is interpreted and 

applied by the DOE -- the other students’ interests do not 

prevail under these circumstances. Instead, C.S.A.’s right to 

access prevailed such that the school surveillance videos were 

disclosable in response to C.S.A.’s request.10 CP 175-76; 181-

85, see also, Figure 1. FERPA simply does not protect the 

school surveillance videos from disclosure where C.S.A. shared 

the same record with the other students and there was no way 

for the district to redact them. Id. Under this record, the Court 

of Appeals properly held FERPA did not operate as an “other 

statute” under RCW 42.56.070)1). 

There is no question that once certain conditions are met, 

and school surveillance videos are disclosable under FERPA, a 

 
10 Of course, if other PRA exemptions applied, any particularly 

private and sensitive information of A.S. and other students 

could be protected under the PRA. But no such exemption was 

raised here. 
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school’s obligation to produce copies is a matter of state law. 

CP 176, 183, 185. Indeed, the Letter to Wachter explicitly 

states: 

While we do not advise on the District’s 

obligations under the [state PRA], we note that 

FERPA does not generally require the District to 

provide copies of education records to parents and 

eligible students. That said, it would not violate 

FERPA for the District non-consensually to 

disclose to an eligible student or his or her parents 

copies of education records that [they] otherwise 

would have the right to inspect and review under 

FERPA.”  

 

CP 185. Hence, under the federal government’s interpretation 

of its own statute, once a school surveillance video is 

disclosable under FERPA, and assuming there are no other 

PRA exemptions, a school must produce copies under the PRA. 

RCW 42.56.070. As such, the Court of Appeals correctly held 

the District violated the PRA when it failed to diligently 

provide copies of the school surveillance videos in response to 

C.S.A.’s numerous requests.  
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 In sum, this case does not meet the criteria for review 

under RAP 13.4.(1) or (2) because it is consistent with FERPA, 

with the PRA, and with Washington case law interpreting these 

laws. The Court of Appeals decision correctly recognizes the 

relevant question under RCW 42.56.070(1) is whether FERPA 

operated to prevent disclosure of the requested school 

surveillance videos. Applying a straightforward analysis under 

the protocol set forth in the Letter to Wachter, the Court of 

Appeals determined FERPA did not prohibit disclosure of the 

requested school surveillance videos. From this, it properly 

concluded FERPA did not operate as an “other statute” under 

these circumstances, and the school surveillance videos were 

thus not exempt from production under the PRA. There is no 

decisional conflict here, and review should be denied. 
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II. THIS CASE DOES NOT PRESENT A 

CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE UNDER THE 

SUPREMACY CLAUSE BECAUSE AS 

APPLIED HERE FERPA AND THE PRA DO 

NOT CONFLICT.  

 

The District claims review should be granted under RAP 

13.4(b)(3) because the Court of Appeals’ decision raises a 

question of law under the federal constitution’s Supremacy 

Clause. PFR at 17. Yet, to the contrary this case does not 

present a conflict between state and federal law. Rather, the 

Court of Appeals decision demonstrates that, as applied to 

C.S.A.’s public records request, FERPA and the PRA 

harmonize seamlessly.  

Congress may preempt state law in three basic manners: 

express preemption, field preemption, and conflict preemption. 

There is a strong presumption against finding preemption and 

the burden of proof is always on the party claiming preemption. 

Washington State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons 

Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 326, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993).  
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Federal preemption of state law may occur only if 

Congress passes a statute that expressly preempts state law; if 

Congress preempts state law by occupation of the entire field of 

regulation; if the state law conflicts with federal law due to 

impossibility of compliance with state and federal law; or when 

state law acts as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the 

federal purpose. Id. (citation omitted). None of these 

circumstances exist here.  

As discussed above, under the circumstances of this case, 

FERPA and the PRA are not in conflict. Under FERPA, the 

District was compelled to disclose these school surveillance 

videos in total upon C.S.A.’s request. CP 175-76; 181-85: Oral 

argument 9:36-41; see also, Figure 1. FERPA does not prevent 

the copying of school surveillance tapes where they are 

disclosable; instead, it explicitly defers to state public records 

law. The PRA plainly obligated the District to provide C.S.A. 

copies of each of these videos. RCW 42.56.070. The laws work 
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in harmony, and the Court of Appeals correctly applied them as 

such. Appendix at 16-19. 

There is no constitutional issue under the Supremacy 

clause here. There is no conflict between state and federal law. 

There is no preemption. There is no impossibility of 

compliance. FERPA and the PRA laws work together 

seamlessly in the context of this case. Accordingly, review is 

not merited under RAP 13.4(b)(3).  

III. REVIEW IS NOT MERITED UNDER RAP 

13.4(b)(4) BECAUSE THE COURT OF 

APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT RESULT IN 

PENALTIES FOR SCHOOLS THAT 

ACTUALLY COMPLY WITH FERPA. 

 

The District claims review should be granted under RAP 

13.4(b)(4) because there is a substantial public interest in 

having this Court decide “whether states may impose penalties 

on state actors for complying with FERPA.” PFR at 23. 

Unfortunately, this argument is predicated on the specious 

premise that the District actually complied with FERPA when it 
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withheld copies of the school surveillance videos. PFR 5-6, 23-

24. This is not so.  

Simply put, this is not a case where Washington is 

imposing penalties on a school district for complying with 

FERPA. This is a case where a school district refused to follow 

FERPA protocols and declined to use the statutory mechanism 

provided under RCW 42.56.540 to get a judicial determination 

that validated its decision to withhold copies of the requested 

school surveillance videos. The penalties at issue here are 

merely a result of the District violating the PRA.  

As clearly recognized by the Court of Appeals, FERPA 

did not oblige the District to withhold copies of the school 

surveillance videos in response to C.S.A.’s request. The Letter 

to Wachter and the DOE’s FAQ clarify that the requested 

school surveillance videos were disclosable under FERPA, 

explain that it does not violate FERPA to produce copies of 

such videos, and explicitly recognize that FERPA defers to the 

PRA as whether copies must be produced. CP 175-76; 181-85, 
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see also, Figure 1. Despite this, the District still insists FERPA 

prohibited it from producing copies of the videos under the 

PRA. For this to be true, however, it would require Washington 

courts to ignore relevant FERPA protocols and the federal 

government’s interpretation of its own statute.  

The Court of Appeals decision does not penalize schools 

for complying with FERPA. Had the District complied with 

FERPA guidelines, it would have timely produced the school 

surveillance videos. Instead, the Court of Appeals decision 

provides for PRA penalties where the District refused to 

produce copies of school surveillance videos that were in fact 

disclosable under FERPA.  

Furthermore, the imposition of PRA fines and penalties 

on the District appropriate are consistent with the public policy 

embedded within the PRA itself. The central purpose of the 

PRA “is nothing less than the preservation of the most central 

tenets of representative government, namely, the sovereignty of 

the people and the accountability to the people of public 
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officials and institutions.” PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 258. The 

District repeatedly chose not to follow FERPA directives 

setting forth the relevant protocol, did not seek validation under 

the PRA through a declaratory proceeding, and consequently 

illegally withheld numerous school surveillance videos for well 

over a year. The resulting penalties and fines could have been 

completely avoided had the District followed applicable federal 

law as interpreted by the DOE or quickly sought a judicial 

determination under RCW 42.56.540 validating its position. 

Yet, it chose not to pursue either option. The public has a 

substantial interest in seeing that the District is held accountable 

under the PRA. Id. And that is accomplished with the Court of 

Appeals decision. 

Arguing otherwise, the District speciously claims the 

Court of Appeals’ decision is flawed because that Court failed 

to decide whether FERPA is an “other statute that forbids 

disclosure of an educational records and personally identifiable 

information.” PFR at 23-24. However, the Court of Appeals 
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clearly acknowledged that FERPA may fall under the PRA’s 

“other statute” exemption “if it expressly exempts the relevant 

records from disclosure.” Appendix at 15 (citing Baxter, 20 

Wn. App. 2d at 663). The Court of Appeals then went on to 

determine, under FERPA guidelines directly on point, that 

FERPA did not forbid disclosure of the school surveillance 

videos. Appendix at 16-19.  

Ultimately, the District refuses to accept that FERPA’s 

protections of school surveillance videos are subject to the 

conditions set forth in the Letter to Wachter and the FAQ. Yet, 

as much as the District is dissatisfied with these protocols -- and 

the Court of Appeals’ straightforward application of them -- 

this is the wrong forum to advocate for a policy change. The 

District’s apparent desire for a policy change under FERPA to 

categorically prohibit the disclosure of school surveillance 

videos and ditch the protocols set forth in the Letter to Wachter 

must be directed toward Congress or the DOE, not this Court. 
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Such advocacy certainly does not provide a basis for reviewing 

the Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.4(b)(4).  

In sum, contrary to the District’s claim, this case does not 

raise an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

reviewed by this Court. The Court of Appeals decision does not 

impose penalties on state actors who in fact comply with 

FERPA. It only imposes sanctions on those state actors who fail 

to follow FERPA’s guidance, decline to seek a judicial 

determination as to its obligations, and end up violating the 

PRA. Review is not merited under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

IV. C.S.A. IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY’S FEES, 

COSTS, AND A DAILY PENALTY AS 

PROVIDED FOR UNDER RCW 42.56.550. 

 

The PRA provides for attorney fees, costs, and sanctions 

to a party who prevails against an agency when enforcing the 

right to inspect or copy public records.  

Any person who prevails against an agency in any 

action in the courts seeking the right to inspect or 

copy any public record or the right to receive a 

response to a public record request within a 

reasonable amount of time shall be awarded all 



-32- 
 

costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred 

in connection with such legal action. In addition, it 

shall be within the discretion of the court to award 

such person an amount not to exceed one hundred 

dollars for each day that he or she was denied the 

right to inspect or copy said public record. 

 

RCW 42.56.550(4) (emphasis added). This provision has been 

treated by this Court as a penalty to enforce the strong public 

policies underlying the public disclosure act, and it is 

mandatory. Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 35-36, 

929 P.2d 389 (1997), (citations omitted). Pursuant to RCW 

42.56.550(4) and RAP 18.1(j), C.S.A. requests this Court award 

him costs, reasonable fees, and an appropriate daily penalty.  

E. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny 

review of this case and award C.S.A. costs, reasonable fees, and 

daily penalties.  
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DIVISION ONE

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